1982

## State of Utah v. Sandra J. Talbot : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged by information with manslaughter; in that on or about the 11th day of July, 1981, in violation of Section 76-5-205, Utah Criminal Code, as amended, the defendant did recklessly cause the death of Brandon Glen Talbot.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was tried by jury in the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County, the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen, Judge, presiding, on the 18th day of November, 1981. The jury found the defendant guilty as charged. Defendant was sentenced by the Court on February 26, 1982, to serve 1-15 years in the Utah State Prison. Notice of Appeal was filed on March 23, 1982.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant respectfully requests that the Court reverse the

verdict of guilty entered in the District Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are those which were proved at trial with the use of the defendant's statement. On July 11, 1981, Brandon Talbot (deceased), awoke from sleep at approximately 10:30 a.m. Sandra Talbot, mother of the deceased stated that Brandon had been throwing temper tantrums for a period of several weeks prior to July 11, 1981, and this day was no exception. Therefore, when Brandon threw a tantrum Sandra put him back to bed. Brandon awake again at approximately 1:30 p.m. Sandra gave Brandon a piece of toast and put him on a kitchen chair. Again Brandon threw a temper tantrum, at which point Sandra hit the child twice in the head with her hand. The child fell forward and his head hit the table. The defendant, thereafter, began loving the child and telling the child that she would never hit him again. After the child was calm, the child was put back in the chair at the table.

Sandra went over to the television and started to adjust it. She turned around and noticed Brandon choking. However, he soon stopped choking. Again she began adjusting the television and again Brandon started choking. When Sandra turned around the second time, the child was falling off the chair onto the floor. Sandra picked the child up and rushed next door to the neighbors,

Mr. and Mrs. Robert Scott. Sandra told the Scott's that Brandon was choking, and he was not breathing. She also told them that Brandon had fallen off the chair and had possibly hurt himself. The Scott's and Sandra took Brandon to the Utah Valley Hospital emergency entrance. Whereupon, Doctors Robert Gray, Brent Griffin and John Andrews attended to the child's medical needs until the child's death on July 13, 1981, at approximately 7:30 a.m.

During examination and treatment of the child prior to its death, pieces of toast were found lodged in its throat. An autopsy was performed on the body of the deceased by Dr. John Wallace Graham (State Medical Examiner) to determine the cause of death. The cause of death was attributed to bilateral subdural hematoma caused by a combination of several blows to the head. All doctors testified that the blows could have been accidental.

Sandra Talbot was tried by a jury and was found guilty of manslaughter. Sentence was pronounced for one to fifteen years in the State Prison.

The following facts were proved at trial without the use of the defendant's statement. Sandra rushed next door to the neighbors, Mr. and Mrs. Robert Scott. Sandra told the Scotts that Brandon was choking, and he was not breathing. She also told them that Brandon had fallen off the chair and had possibly hurt himself. The Scotts and Sandra took Brandon to Utah Valley Hospital emergency entrance. Whereupon, Doctors Robert Gray,

Brent Griffin and John Andrews attended to the child's medical needs until the child's death on July 13, 1981, at approximately 7:30 a.m. During examination and treatment of the child prior to its death, pieces of toast were found lodged in its throat.

An autopsy was performed on the body of the deceased by Dr. John Wallace Graham (State Medical Examiner) to determine the cause of death. The cause of death was attributed to bilateral subdural hematoma caused by a combination of several blows to the head. All doctors testified that the blows could have been accidental.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

THE STATE DID NOT PRESENT EVIDENCE OF THE CORPUS DELECTI OF MANSLAUGHTER AND THUS, THE INFORMATION CHARGING THE DEFENDANT SHOULD HAVE BEEN DISMISSED, AND THE DEFENDANT DISCHARGED.

It is a fundamental principal of criminal law that an accused cannot be convicted of a crime unless the prosecution can prove beyond a reasonable doubt the corpus delecti of the crime. In the instant case, the defendant was charged with manslaughter in that she recklessly caused the death of her son Brandon Talbot. In homicide cases such as this, the State must prove at least two facts to establish the corpus delecti. First the State must prove the fact of the child's death and secondly the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the child's death was

caused by means of criminal agency inflicted by the accused. Bennett v. State, 377 P.2d 634 (Wyo. 1963); State v. Thatcher, 157 P.2d 258 (Utah, 1945); State v. Bassett, 495 P.2d 318 (Utah, 1972).

During the State's case, the State proved that the deceased, Brandon Talbot, died as a result of bilateral subdural hematoma, induced by several concussions on the brain. To establish this proof, the State called four medical doctors, the last of which was the medical examiner for the State of Utah, Dr. John Wallace Graham. The first doctor to testify was Dr. Robert Nelson Gray, a physician who worked in the emergency room at the Utah Valley Hospital (R. 87). Dr. Gray testified, over the objection of defense counsel, that he had been told by the defendant that the child (deceased) was sitting in a chair eating and fell from the chair, began to vomit and then quit breathing. When asked whether his examination of the child revealed the physical evidence consistent with the defendant's statement, the doctor replied in the affirmative (R. 98). Upon being further examined by both the Court and the prosecution, Dr. Gray testified that the injury to the child's head, which was a fresh injury, was consistent with the child falling from a chair and hitting a hard object (R. 94).

The prosecution then called Dr. Brent Griffin, a pediatrician, who testified that he treated the child until its death. He performed certain medical procedures in an attempt to restore the



child to a state of consciousness (R. 100-116). On cross-examination and on re-direct examination, Dr. Griffin testified that he could not rule out accident as the cause of the injury to the child's head and further stated that the child could fall against something and receive the injury that was discovered to be present on the child's head which in combination with other bruises to the head was diagnosed as the eventual cause of death.

The State next called Dr. John M. Andrews, a neurologist, who testified regarding his examination of the child, Brandon Talbot, his diagnosis and conclusions regarding the injury and injuries found on the child's head (R. 120-134). On cross-examination, Dr. Andrews, consistent with the previous doctors, testified that he could not rule out accident as a cause of injury to the child's head (R. 136).

Finally, Dr. John Wallace Graham, the Utah State medical examiner was called as a witness and testified of the cause of death of the child and then gave his testimony regarding the cause of injury. Dr. Graham testified that the cause of death was a head injury (R. 149). Dr. Graham identified a total of five bruises about the head area, one of which was a fresh bruise, the others of which were between five and seven days old as confirmed by testimony of the other doctors (R. 151). Dr. Graham further testified that the precise injury to the head which occurred within two to three days of the child's death, by itself, might not have caused the death of the child but that the

injury acting in combination with other injuries on the child's head would have caused the death of the child (R. 152-155). Consistent with the other doctors' testimony, Dr. Graham testified that the injury, which was determined to be the most recent of the injuries could have been caused by the child falling against a hard object by accident. Dr. Wallace Graham went on to give his opinion that a total of five injuries could not have been caused by accident, although he did not give any medical reasons or other logical explanation for his conclusion and opinion.

Thus, the State at the conclusion of testimony of the doctors, and excluding any other testimony, proved only that the life of Brandon Talbot had ended due to injuries received to the head which injuries could have been the result of the child falling accidentally against a hard object or a hard object accidentally hitting the child's head. None of the doctors could rule out accident as a cause of injury, and the State Medical Examiner stated that the injuries to the head eventually caused his death. The only evidence of the defendant's involvement in the injuries, exclusive of her statement, was that the child had fallen from a chair, had hit the floor, began choking and vomiting and then quit breathing while it was in her custody and care. Thus, the State failed to prove a corpus delicti of the crime charged. That is, the State only proved that the death of the baby was caused by injuries to the head, any one of which

could have been caused by accident. The State did not prove that the injuries to the child were caused by a criminal means or criminal agency inflicted by the defendant, Sandra Talbot.

In the case of State v. Bassett, 495 P.2d 318 (Utah 1972) the Utah State Supreme Court faced a fact situation very similar to the instant case. In Bassett, the defendants Weldon Bassett and Judy Bassett were found guilty of involuntary manslaughter. The facts disclosed that on the 8th day of November, 1970, Erica, the child of the defendants was taken to a hospital for treatment of an ailment manifested by convulsions and a mild fever. The family physician examined the baby, performed certain medical examinations and treatment and released the child. Thereafter, on the 24th day of November, 1970, the child was again taken to the hospital where she was pronounced dead. An autopsy was performed and it was found that the child had died from an acute and chronic subdural hematoma. The baby also had fractured ribs, but these did not contribute to her death.

At the trial in the District Court, no evidence was produced by the prosecution which showed that either of the defendants committed any act or omission which resulted in the death of the baby. The Court submitted the case to the jury upon the theory that the defendants, being parents of the deceased child and being responsible for the child's protection, imposed upon them the duty of using ordinary reasonable care for the child's safety. The Court instructed the jury in effect that if the defen-

dants were guilty of gross negligence in the care of the child in such a manner as to evidence willful disregard for consequences; and there being no circumstances amounting to a satisfactory excuse, and if fatal injury resulted from such lack of care, then such acts or omissions were a sufficient basis to find the defendants guilty.

The Court reversed the conviction of the defendants and found as follows:

The State had the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the death of the child resulted proximately from some act or omission on the part of defendants. Even a showing of a mere thoughtless omission or slight deviation from the norm of prudent conduct is insufficient to support a finding of criminal negligence. In order to make out a case under the statute above referred to, it is incumbent upon the State to show an unlawful act or an infraction which is done in marked disregard for the safety of others. In this case, there being no evidence to show any act on the part of the defendants or either one of them, it was error for the Court to submit the case to the jury and to permit the jury to speculate upon the guilt or innocence of the defendants. The unfortunate death of the baby from injuries suffered by her from a source not shown by the evidence is insufficient on which to base a conviction.

In the instant case, the State did not prove that the death of Brandon Talbot was caused by criminal agency or by any act or omission committed by the defendant. The State merely proved that the child had five bruises to the head, one of which had been inflicted within two to three days of its death and that the combination of bruises caused the death of the child. The State's witnesses further testified that any one or more of the

injuries to the head of the child could have been caused by accident. Thus, on its own, the State's evidence exclusive of any statement of the defendant was insufficient to establish the corpus delicti of the crime of manslaughter, and the Court, upon motion of defense counsel, should have dismissed the information.

This Court has further stated that to constitute voluntary manslaughter, there must be an intent to kill or do great bodily harm, or do an act knowing the "natural and probable consequence thereof will be death or great bodily harm." State v. Gallegos, 396 P.2d 414 (Utah, 1964). The State did not present evidence to show or prove that the defendant performed any act knowing the "natural or probable consequences" thereof would be death. In the case of People v. Strohm, 523 P.2d 973 (Colo., 1974), the Colorado Supreme Court stated that:

The death could have been caused equally by accident or by a felonious act. In the view of this evidence, the inference of guilty beyond a reasonable doubt cannot be rationally drawn.

In the instant case, the State's expert witnesses who testified concerning the cause of injuries and the cause of death all testified that the cause of injuries could have been by accident and that the cause of death was a result of the injuries. There was no testimony on the part of the expert witnesses indicating that the cause of the injuries or the death was by means of criminal agency. Thus, it is the contention of the defendant

that on the authority of the case of State v. Bassett and other cases cited herein, the information charging her with manslaughter should have been dismissed and she discharged.

POINT II:

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE STATEMENT OF THE DEFENDANT SANDRA J. TALBOT.

During the prosecution of its case, the State called Officer George Pierpont, a detective for the Provo police department who testified that he responded to a request to investigate the death of Brandon Talbot. Mr. Pierpont contacted the defendant Sandra Talbot and explained to her that he was a police officer and was investigating the death of her son. After his identification and his declaration of the miranda rights to the defendant, he interrogated her regarding her knowledge of the incidents leading up to the death of her child (R. 138-144; 157-162). When Mr. Pierpont was prepared to recite in open Court the content of the statement he had taken from the defendant, counsel for the defendant objected, upon the ground that the statement was inadmissible for the reason that the state had not proved the corpus delecti of the offense of manslaughter and that until a corpus delecti of the crime were established, the State could not use an incriminating statement of the defendant.

At the outset of this brief, counsel took the liberty to

present two statements of facts, one including facts obtained from the statement of the defendant and the other one excluding those facts. It is quite obvious that a brief reading of counsel's two statements of facts together with the entire transcript of the record indicate that without the additional facts contained in the statement of the defendant, there would be absolutely no evidence of criminal agency involved in the causing of the injuries and eventual death of the child Brandon Talbot. Thus, it is easy to conclude that exclusive of the defendant's own statement, the State failed to prove a corpus delecti of the crime of manslaughter.

It is fundamental and basic law in the State of Utah and other jurisdictions that a statement of an accused cannot be used against the accused to establish the corpus delecti of a crime and that said statement is excludable evidence until such time as the state independently establishes the corpus delecti of the offense charged. State v. Pineda, 519 P.2d 41 (Ariz., 1974); State v. Padilla, 474 P.2d 821 (Ariz., 1970); State v. Cooley, 603 P.2d 800 (Utah, 1979)

A reading of the transcript of the trial indicates that at best the State proved, exclusive of the statement of the defendant that the child Brandon Talbot died as a result of injuries to its head, which injuries caused a subdural hematoma. All of the expert witnesses testified that the injuries could have been caused by accidental means. None of the experts gave testimony

based upon medical expertise that the child's injuries were caused by criminal means or criminal agency. However, with the addition of the defendant's testimony that she slapped the child twice causing the child's head to hit a table, the State was able to adduce evidence that the defendant perhaps acted recklessly and that her reckless actions under the criminal law caused her to become criminally culpable for the death of her child. It is defendant's contention that even adding her statement to the whole of the evidence, although defendant does not concede that it was admissible, does not give sufficient evidence to prove criminality in the cause of the injuries and eventual death of the child. That is, the striking of the child's head twice, causing the child to fall against a table and nothing more, seems wholly inadequate as evidence to persuade that the injuries were caused by criminal means.

It should be noted that after the child's head struck the table, it was completely calmed down and restored to a point where it was eating toast which had been furnished by its mother. That it was after such occurrence that the child began to choke and because of choking apparently fell from the chair and struck its head once again.

Defendant acknowledges that the jury has the right, if the evidence is appropriately before it, to consider all of the facts and evidence and make its determination of the verdict. However, the defendant does not believe that the jury should have been



permitted to hear and consider her statement inasmuch as the State had failed to prove the corpus delecti of the crime and therefore under the rules of evidence should have been precluded from introducing, and having admitted the statement given by the defendant to Officer George Pierpont.

The defendant further contends that the Court erred in admitting the statement given by the defendant to George Pierpont and that such error was not harmless and was the essential ingredient upon which the jury relied to enter a verdict of guilty. Without her statement, the State's case would have failed. Thus, the Court committed reversible error and this defendant respectfully requests that this Court enter its order of reversal upon her second point aforesaid.

### POINT III

#### THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL.

At the conclusion of the State's case, defense counsel made a motion to the Court to enter an order of mistrial of the case for the reason and upon the ground that the prosecutor in his opening statement and during the course of trial repeatedly used the words "death blow" and words of that kind in reference to the actions of the defendant. Counsel for the defendant maintained and argued that the use of such words was highly inflammatory and caused the jurors to form an attitude of prejudice against the

defendant, unduly and unfairly, and that such actions of the prosecutor should have resulted in a mistrial of the case.

In the case of People v. Purvis, 384 P.2d 424 (Cal., 1963) the California Court held that:

It has consistently been held that the official position of the district attorney, as representative of the people, carries such weight with the jury that his statements of fact predicated on his knowledge, rather than on the evidence, constitutes reversible error.

In the case of People v. Lyons, 303 P.2d 329 (Cal., 1956), the Court stated that where the evidence in a case is closely balanced and the guilt of the defendant has not been established, the prosecution's misconduct may turn the scales against the defendant thus resulting in grounds for reversal or mistrial. The court further intimated that it is as much the prosecutor's duty to refrain from improper methods to produce a wrongful conviction as it is to bring about a just one.

A particular statement made by the prosecutor in the closing paragraphs of his opening statement seems to be particularly inflammatory and calculated to excite the jury unduly and unfairly against the defendant at the outset of the trial. The statement is as follows:

Now the charge today is a serious charge. Its manslaughter. Manslaughter is always a very serious charge, because it means that someone is dead. Nothing we do here today can bring that person back to life. This particular case, the facts are particularly tragic, because the person who is

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