1982

# State of Utah v. Sandra J. Talbot : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

THE PROSECUTION ESTABLISHED THE CORPUS DELICTI OF MANSLAUGHTER, WHICH REQUIRES (1) EVIDENCE OF A DEATH OF A HUMAN BEING, AND (2) EVIDENCE THAT THE DEATH RESULTED FROM CRIMINAL CONDUCT.

The appellant was convicted of manslaughter, a second-degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-205(1)(a) (1953), as amended, in that appellant, on or

about July 11, 1981 did recklessly cause the death of Brandon Glen Talbot. Utah Code Ann., §§ 76-5-201 and 76-5-205(1)(a) when read together define one theory of manslaughter as where an actor unlawfully and recklessly causes the death of another. Utah Code Ann., § 76-2-103(3) (1953), as amended, defines recklessly as follows:

A person engages in conduct:

(3) Recklessly . . . with respect to circumstances surrounding his conduct or the result of his conduct when he is aware of but consciously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the circumstances exist or the result will occur. The risk must be of such a nature and degree that its disregard constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would exercise under all the circumstances as viewed from the actor's standpoint.

Under this theory of manslaughter, the State was required to prove: (1) that appellant acted unlawfully, (2) that appellant acted recklessly, i.e., was aware of but consciously disregarded the substantial and unjustifiable risk that her conduct would result in the death of Brandon Talbot, and (3) that appellant caused the death of Brandon Talbot. The jury found that the State's evidence was sufficient to establish these elements beyond a reasonable doubt.

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in allowing the police officer to testify about statements appellant made several days after Brandon was initially



treated in the emergency room at Utah Valley Hospital. Appellant alleges that the error occurred when the trial court admitted these statements before the corpus delicti of manslaughter had been established beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellant's argument also assumes that there was insufficient evidence to support the conviction. These claims are refuted by the evidence admitted at trial.

Corpus delicti means the body or substance of the offense, the existence of a criminal fact without the existence of which there is nothing to investigate. State v. Johnson, 95 Utah 572, 83 P.2d 1010 (1938). The requirement of corpus delicti has two elements: (1) that the State present evidence that the injury specified in the crime occurred, and (2) that the State present evidence that such injury was caused by someone's criminal conduct. State v. Knoefler, Utah, 563 P.2d 175 (1977); State v. Kimbel, Utah, 620 P.2d 515 (1980); State v. Cazier, Utah, 521 P.2d 554 (1974). Thus, the term corpus delicti in a homicide case involves the fact of the death and the fact that death was brought about or induced by a criminal agency. State v. Johnson, 95 Utah 572, 83 P.2d 1010 (1938).

In the homicide context, the "injury" in the first part of the corpus delicti definition is the death of a human being. State v. Petree, Utah, \_\_\_\_ P.2d \_\_\_\_ (Case No. 18015, filed February 4, 1983); State v. Pyle, 532 P.2d 1309 (Kan.

1975); State v. Smith, 531 P.2d 843 (Wash. Ct. App. 1975); People v. Brechon, 390 N.E.2d 626 (Ill. 1979).

For the second requirement, the State need only present evidence that the death resulted from criminal conduct, rather than by accident or from natural causes. State v. Petree, *supra*; Riley v. State, 349 N.E.2d 704 (Ind. 1976); Tanner v. State, 327 So.2d 749 (Ala. Crim App. 1976). It is not necessary to show cause of death or to provide evidence on the specific degree of homicide. State v. Petree, *supra*. Additionally, contrary to appellant's claims, the second element does not require that the crime perpetrator's identity be proven. State v. Cazier, Utah, 521 P.2d 554 (1974); State v. Johnson, 95 Utah 572, 83 P.2d 1010 (1938); Jenkins v. State, 401 A.2d 83 (Del. 1979). This Court in State v. Knoefler, *supra*, explained the State's burden of proof in establishing the corpus delicti:

. . . the requirement of independent proof of the corpus delicti requires only that the State present evidence that the injury specified in the crime occurred, and that such injury was caused by someone's criminal conduct. An admission or confession is admissible to connect an accused with the crime committed, but the connection of the accused with the crime need not be proven to establish the corpus delicti.

563 P.2d at 176 (emphasis added).

Other authorities also support the view that the corpus delicti does not require that the State prove appellant

was the guilty party. Professor McCormick explained the rule as follows:

To establish guilt, it is generally necessary for the prosecution to show that (a) the injury of harm specified in the crime occurred, (b) this injury or harm was caused by someone's criminal activity, and (c) the defendant was the guilty party. To sustain a conviction, the requirement of independent proof of the corpus delicti demands only that the prosecution have introduced independent evidence tending to show (a) and (b). It is not necessary that the independent proof tend to connect the defendant with the crime.

McCormick's Handbook of the Law of Evidence, E. Cleary, § 158 at p. 347 (2nd Ed. 1972).

Not all of the elements of the crime need to be proven because "otherwise, corpus delicti would be synonymous with whole of charge." Jenkins v. State, 401 A.2d 83, at 86 (Del. 1979). Corpus delicti does not include all the elements of the crime; independent proof of the corpus delicti is a separate question from that of whether appellant committed the crime. State v. Erwin, 101 Utah 365, 120 P.2d 285 (1941); State v. Cazier, Utah, 521 P.2d 554 (1974). In State v. Chesnut, Utah, 621 P.2d 1228 (1980), this Court stated:

This Court rejected the contention that the corpus delicti of a crime includes the total proof of all elements necessary to convict defendant of the crime charged in State v. Cazier. This

Court explained the traditional and practically universal concept of the term "corpus delicti," which means literally the body of the crime, in regard to proof of crime, refers only to evidence that the crime has been committed.

This Court has continually held that the corpus delicti of a crime does not include proving the appellant's connection with the crime.

Appellant states that the corpus delicti must be established "beyond a reasonable doubt." She does not cite any supporting case law. In fact, the standard for proving the elements of the corpus delicti is the lesser standard of "proof of clear and convincing evidence." This standard of proof was established by State v. Ferry, 2 Utah 2d 371, 275 P.2d 173 (1954) which stated:

An accused cannot be convicted on his confession alone. We believe and hold that in addition there must be independent, clear and convincing evidence of the corpus delicti, although we and the authorities generally do not require it to be convincing beyond a reasonable doubt.

This Court has expressly rejected the "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard for proving corpus delicti. It is generally agreed that the evidence of the corpus delicti need not be "beyond a reasonable doubt," "conclusive" or "sufficient to warrant a conviction." State v. Weldon, 6 Utah 2d 372, 314 P.2d 353 (1957).

Furthermore, there is no requirement that the corpus delicti be proved by eyewitnesses. State v. Johnson, 95 Utah 572, 83 P.2d 1010 (1938). The two elements of corpus delicti can be proven by circumstantial evidence. State v. Petree, Utah, \_\_\_\_ P.2d \_\_\_\_ (Case No. 18015, filed February 4, 1983); State v. Long, 369 P.2d 247 (Kan. 1962). The elements can also be proved by the reasonable inferences to be drawn from the direct or circumstantial evidence. State v. Petree, supra; People v. Ramierez, 91 Cal. App. 3d 132, 153 Cal. Rptr. 789 (Cal. Ct. App. 1979); People v. Wetzel, 17 Cal. Rptr. 879 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1962). In the present case, it is not fatal to the State's case that there were no eyewitnesses to the homicide of Brandon. The trial judge could review all the evidence, including the testimony of four physicians, and draw reasonable inferences to support the conclusion that the corpus delicti of manslaughter had been established.

These rules of corpus delicti reflect two competing interests: (1) to prevent convictions based solely on the defendant's statements, and (2) the recognition of the probativeness and evidentiary value of a defendant's statements after a crime has been committed.

The purpose of the rule was to safeguard against convicting the innocent on the strength of false confessions. . . . As a precaution against convicting the innocent in the few instances when persons mentally disturbed or impelled by strange motivations might confess to crimes they did not commit.

State v. Weldon, 6 Utah 2d 372, 314 P.2d 353 (1957). At the same time, because false confessions occur in extremely rare situations, courts recognize the evidentiary value and validity of statements, admissions or confessions made by criminal defendants because of the "natural compunction people have against confessing to or implicating themselves in crimes." State v. Weldon, supra.

The rule (that appellant's statement, by itself, cannot be used to establish the corpus delicti of the crime and justify a conviction) should be applied with caution and not permitted to be used as a technical obstruction to the administration of justice. State v. Weldon, supra. The rule best suited to the proper administration of justice is that reasonable minds could believe that the manslaughter of Brandon Talbot is a real crime which was in fact committed, and not a crime which was fanciful or imaginary. Id.

A. THE CORPUS DELICTI OF MANSLAUGHTER WAS SUFFICIENTLY ESTABLISHED BY THE PROSECUTION BEFORE THE APPELLANT'S STATEMENTS WERE ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.

Appellant argues that the prosecution introduced appellant's statements before the corpus delicti of the crime was established. This is contrary to what happened at trial. The first element of corpus delicti in a homicide case (the death of Brandon Talbot) was established by the evidence at



the trial. Dr. Brent Griffin pronounced Brandon dead on July 13, 1981 at 7 a.m. (T. 40). Dr. Robert Nelson Gray was told the child died (T. 21). Dr. John Andrews said severe brain damage caused Brandon's death (T. 62). Police Officer George Pierpont investigated Brandon's death (T. 65, 84). Dr. John Wallace Graham performed an autopsy on the body of Brandon Talbot (T. 72). All of this evidence was presented at trial before George Pierpont testified to the statements made by appellant (which is at T. 91-93).

There was also clear and convincing evidence of the second element of corpus delicti, that the death resulted from criminal conduct, rather than by accident or from natural causes. Dr. Robert Gray, the emergency room physician at Utah Valley Hospital, initially suspected that Brandon had choked on food, but he rejected an accident as the cause of Brandon's breathing problems because Brandon did not resume normal breathing when the pieces of food were suctioned from his throat (T. 19) because there were multiple head injuries (T. 19), because the acid content in Brandon's blood had remained normal (T. 18), because Dr. Gray suspected child abuse (T. 21), and because the doctor's physical examination of Brandon revealed problems which were not consistent with the background information provided by appellant (T. 24).

Dr. Brent Griffin also suspected criminal conduct rather than an accident as the cause of Brandon's death because the blood gas tests showed that accidental choking was

not the cause of Brandon's breathing difficulty (T. 34-35). It is not common to see children with multiple bruises (T. 36-37) and Brandon was suspected to be a victim of child abuse (T. 36). He said it would be very unlikely that a child could receive a severe brain injury from a fall although a bruise is possible (T. 38). He could not explain Brandon's severe brain injury consistently with the history that had been obtained from appellant (T. 39) and he would be surprised if the severe injury was caused by a fall from a chair to a tile floor (T. 40). His opinion was that Brandon's death was caused by a blow or blows to the head (T. 40, 44).

Dr. John Andrews' testimony also rejected the initial explanation of accidental choking. He suspected criminal conduct because of the multiple bruises (T. 49), and because a severe blow to the head would more likely cause the swelling where the optic nerve enters the back of the eye and would more likely cause the hemorrhages in Brandon's eyes (T. 49-50). He said the brain injury was incompatible with accidental suffocation (T. 52) and the history given by appellant was inconsistent with the severity of the brain damage (T. 53). Because of the discrepancies between Brandon's injuries and appellant's explanation of the injuries, Dr. Andrews was concerned about "child abuse syndrome" (T. 59).

Additional evidence of the second element of corpus delicti was provided by Dr. John Wallace Graham, who performed



the autopsy. He suspected criminal conduct because there were six bruises on Brandon's head (T. 75). The severity of Brandon's injuries was not consistent with Brandon's falling from a chair onto a floor (T. 76), and there were too many injuries to Brandon's head to believe that they were caused accidentally (T. 80). Brandon's injuries were consistent with "Battered Child Syndrome" because different body segments had bruises, the injuries were of different ages, and the injuries were not explained adequately through accidental cause (T. 83). Graham concluded that death was caused by a solid object striking Brandon's head or Brandon's head being banged against a solid object (T. 76).

Again, all of this testimony on the second element of corpus delicti was received before Officer Pierpont testified about the statements which appellant made to him during the investigation. This testimony, and all reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom, provides clear and convincing evidence of the two elements of corpus delicti.

B. EVIDENCE THAT ACCIDENT COULD NOT BE RULED OUT AS THE CAUSE OF THE INJURIES DOES NOT DESTROY THE CORPUS DELICTI IN THIS CASE, WHERE AN ACCIDENT WAS EXTREMELY UNLIKELY TO CAUSE THE INJURIES.

Appellant claims throughout her brief that the evidence showed that Brandon's injuries could have been caused accidentally, and thus, there was no evidence of any criminal

agency. Appellant misinterprets what the physicians actually said at trial. Admittedly, some of the testimony was that accident could not be ruled out with medical certainty as the cause of Brandon's injuries. However, this does not destroy what all of the doctors basically agreed to: it would be extremely unlikely that the injuries could have been caused by an accident.

Because of appellant's contentions that an accident was not conclusively ruled out by the physicians as the cause of Brandon's injuries and, therefore, no criminal conduct was proven, a thorough review of the evidence on the accident theory contention is necessary.

Dr. Robert Gray had not ruled out child abuse as a cause of Brandon's injuries (T. 21). Brandon did not resume normal breathing when the food and vomit were suctioned from his throat and Dr. Gray rejected an accident as the cause of Brandon's problems (T. 19). The doctor's physical examination of Brandon revealed inconsistencies with the background information provided by appellant (T. 24). He could not determine what caused the death because he had treated Brandon only in the short time of the emergency situation (T. 22). Dr. Gray said one of the bruises would be consistent with a fall from a chair, but a fall would not explain all of the bruises (T. 24). Dr. Gray testified that he could not answer the question whether the injuries could have been caused by a fall from a chair (T. 25).

Dr. Brent Griffin, who first treated Brandon in 1980 for "failure to thrive" shortly before Brandon was taken from the custody of appellant and placed in a foster home, stated that the bruises on Brandon's head could have been caused by any type of blow or fall, and that his concern was that Brandon was a victim of child abuse (T. 36). His belief was based in part on the multiple bruises Brandon had, which were not normal for an 18-month-old child (T. 37). Griffin drew a distinction between the bruise on the exterior of Brandon's head and the severe internal brain injury. He said it was possible that the degree of bruising which appeared on the outside of Brandon's head was consistent with a fall from a chair to the floor (T. 38). However, Dr. Griffin qualified this general point with reference to the more severe internal injury: it would be very unlikely that a child could sustain a severe brain injury from a fall from a chair to the floor (T. 38).

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